FILED  
July 24, 2015  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

No. 72944-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DENNIS JACKSON,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

KATHLEEN A. SHEA  
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT  
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701  
Seattle, Washington 98101  
(206) 587-2711

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State charged Mr. Jackson with one count of possession of heroin based on two acts, which allegedly occurred at two different times in two different places. As to one incident, the State alleged Mr. Jackson was guilty of constructive possession of heroin. As to the other, the State alleged he was guilty of actual possession. Because these acts did not constitute a continuing course of conduct, the trial court erred when it denied Mr. Jackson's request for a unanimity instruction. This Court should reverse.

#### B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Jackson's request for a unanimity instruction.

#### C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict. When the State alleges the defendant committed two distinct acts but charges only one count of criminal conduct, the trial court must instruct the jury that it is required to agree on a specific act in order to find the defendant guilty. Where the State relied on two separate acts of heroin possession to prove one charge, and the trial

court denied Mr. Jackson's request for a unanimity instruction, is reversal required?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dennis Jackson was riding in the front passenger seat of a car when it was stopped by police. 1 RP 135-36. During the arrest of the driver for a suspended license, an officer ordered Mr. Jackson out of the car because the officer did not like the way Mr. Jackson was moving his hands. 1 RP 162; 2 RP 201-02. When Mr. Jackson stepped out of the car, the officer saw white crystals, later found to contain methamphetamine, on the passenger seat and floorboard. 2 RP 203.

The officer detained Mr. Jackson and, after discovering he had an outstanding warrant, placed Mr. Jackson under arrest and performed a search of his person. 2 RP 204, 229. The driver was placed in Officer Stephen Ross's car, and Mr. Jackson was placed in Officer Timothy O'Hara's car. 1 RP 164; 2 RP 206. The driver, who appeared to Officer O'Hara to be a drug addict, remained in Officer Ross's car for 30 minutes to one hour. 1 RP 138; 2 RP 230. He was then released and Mr.

Jackson was moved to Officer Ross's vehicle for transport to the jail. 2 RP 206.

Upon arriving at the jail, Officer Ross discovered a small plastic bag, later found to contain heroin, on the floor of one of the back passenger seats. 1 RP 144. No heroin had been found on Mr. Jackson when he was searched at the time of arrest, and no heroin was found in the patrol car he was initially placed in. 1 RP 139; 2 RP 206, 229.

Mr. Jackson was booked into the jail, strip searched, and placed in restraints. 2 RP 320-21. After his hands were released from restraints to allow him to eat, a deputy testified he noticed another small plastic bag, also later found to contain heroin, in Mr. Jackson's hand. 2 RP 307. Mr. Jackson's resulting scuffle with the correctional officers, which included a sergeant tasing Mr. Jackson three times, was recorded on the jail's surveillance video. 2 RP 305-06.

The State charged Mr. Jackson with one count of possession of methamphetamine and one count of possession of heroin. CP 69. At trial, Mr. Jackson requested a unanimity instruction directing the jurors they must unanimously agree on

one act to find him guilty of heroin possession. 3 RP 363. The trial court summarily denied his request “based on [its] reading of the comments from the WPIC book.” 3 RP 365.

In closing argument, the State relied on both heroin-related incidents, failing to elect one or the other. 3 RP 367. During deliberations, the jury asked to watch the jail video a second time, and asked questions including whether a strip search included a rectal exam. CP 32-33. The trial court referred the jurors back to their instructions and allowed them to watch the video again. CP 32-33; 3 RP 420.

The jury acquitted Mr. Jackson of possession of methamphetamine and found him guilty of possession of heroin. He was sentenced to 13 months of incarceration. CP 17.

#### E. ARGUMENT

**The trial court’s failure to give a unanimity instruction requires reversal.**

- a. Mr. Jackson had a constitutional right to a unanimous jury.

Criminal defendants in Washington are guaranteed the right to a unanimous jury. *State v. Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 509, 511, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007). When a defendant is charged with

only one count of criminal conduct, but the evidence at trial indicates multiple distinct criminal acts may have been committed, additional measures must be taken to ensure this right is protected. *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 572, 693 P.2d 173 (1984). The State must elect which of the acts it relies upon for a conviction or the court must instruct the jury to agree on a specific criminal act. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 511.

In *Coleman*, the court explained why this is so important, stating:

The unanimity instruction requirement avoids the risk that jurors will aggregate evidence improperly. Without the election or instruction, each juror may arrive at a guilty verdict by responding to testimony about discrete incidents – incidents which, if an election were made, the jury may not all agree occurred.

*Id.* at 512. When the State chooses not to elect a specific act, a trial court's failure to give the jury a unanimity instruction violates the defendant's state constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict and United States constitutional right to a jury trial. *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988); Const. art. I, §22; U.S. Const. amend. VI.



b. The court violated Mr. Jackson’s constitutional right to a unanimous jury when it denied his request for a unanimity instruction.

i. *The Instruction was Required Because the State Relied on Two Distinct Acts of Heroin Possession*

Mr. Jackson was charged with one count of possession of heroin, but the State alleged he had possessed heroin in two different locations at two different times. CP 69; 1 RP 144; 2 RP 307. Mr. Jackson requested a *Petrich* instruction, asking the jurors be directed they must unanimously agree the State proved one particular act of possession in order to find him guilty. 3 RP 3. The State argued both acts were encompassed within a continuing course of conduct and declined to elect one. 3 RP 365. The trial court denied Mr. Jackson’s request “based on [its] reading of the comments from the WPIC book.” 3 RP 365.

In closing argument, the State argued both incidents to the jury, stating:

[Y]ou heard about the heroin that was left in Officer Ross’s patrol car when Mr. Jackson got out of the patrol car at the jail. And finally, you heard about the heroin that was recovered from Mr. Jackson that came out of his rectum at the jail...

3 RP 367. The prosecuting attorney even used the two incidents to explain the difference between actual and constructive possession, telling the jury:

Actual possession occurs when it's in their physical possession. In the jail during the booking process he had it in his hand. You saw that on video. He had it in his hand, he was trying to put it in his mouth, they struggled to get it out of his hand. That's actual possession.

Constructive possession occurs when there's no actual physical possession but there's dominion and control over the substance. When he's in the back of the patrol car and it ends up on the floor, nobody else, and you heard testimony, nobody else was in the back of that patrol car when that heroin was there.

3 RP 375.

Where the State's evidence tends to show two distinct instances of possession occurring at different times, in different places, and involving two different types of possession (one actual and one constructive), a *Petrich* instruction is required. *State v. King*, 75 Wn. App. 899, 903, 878 P.2d 466 (1994). In *King*, this Court considered facts very similar to those alleged here. The police arrested the defendant after cocaine was found in a vehicle in which he was a passenger. *Id.* at 901. During the inventory search at the jail, an officer found more cocaine in the fanny pack he was wearing. *Id.*

The State charged the defendant in *King* with only one count of possession of cocaine. *Id.* The trial court denied the defendant's request for a unanimity instruction after the State indicated it would make an election during its closing argument. *Id.* at 903. However, when the State failed to make this election, and instead relied on each incident to support a conviction, the trial court neglected to remedy the State's failure by issuing the unanimity instruction. *Id.* The Court reversed, finding a *Petrich* instruction was required because the case involved multiple acts rather than a continuing course of conduct. *Id.* at 903.

This Court noted that “[n]o Washington cases have applied the ‘continuing course of conduct’ exception to *Petrich* in the context of a drug possession offense.” *Id.* It declined to do so in *King*, where “[t]he State’s evidence tended to show two distinct instances of cocaine possession occurring at different times, in different places, and involving two different containers – the Tylenol bottle and the fanny pack. One alleged possession was constructive; the other, actual.” *Id.*

Similar to the facts in *King*, the State alleged Mr. Jackson should be convicted for possession because he had constructive possession of the heroin found in the car and because he had actual possession of the heroin found in his hand at the jail. 3 RP 374. The evidence presented by the State alleged two acts in different places, at different times, in different bags, and involving two different types of possession. Thus, this Court’s holding in *King* controls. A *Petrich* instruction was required to ensure Mr. Jackson was only convicted following a unanimous verdict. *See Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 409; Const. art. I, §22; U.S. Const. amend. VI. When the trial court denied Mr. Jackson’s request for this instruction, it erred.

ii. *The Trial Court’s Error was Not Harmless*

When a trial court errs by failing to provide a unanimity instruction, “[a] conviction beset by this error will not be upheld unless the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 512. “The presumption of error is overcome only if no rational juror could have a reasonable doubt as to *any* of the incidents alleged.” *Id.* (Emphasis added).

In *King*, the Court found the State failed to meet this

high burden because:

Sufficient conflicting evidence exists as to which one of the car's occupants constructively possessed the Tylenol bottle for us to conclude that a rational trier of fact could entertain reasonable doubt as to whether King was responsible for the Tylenol bottle. The evidence is also conflicting as to King's alleged possession of the cocaine in the fanny pack. King testified that he was unaware of the cocaine in his fanny pack and asserted that the officers must have planted it. We cannot say that no rational trier of fact would entertain a reasonable doubt about King's responsibility for the cocaine in his fanny pack.

75 Wn. App. at 904.

The Court's analysis in *King* applies with equal force here. The State alleged Mr. Jackson was guilty of possession of heroin because the police found heroin on the floor of the patrol car near Mr. Jackson's feet when they arrived at the jail. 1 RP 144. However, Mr. Jackson was not the only individual in the back of Officer Ross's car that afternoon. The driver of the car stopped by police was initially placed under arrest and held in Officer Ross's vehicle between 30 minutes to one hour before he was removed and Mr. Jackson took his place. 1 RP 138.

Although Officer Ross testified he had checked the car before placing Mr. Jackson inside, no drugs were found on Mr.

Jackson when he was searched during his arrest nor were any drugs found in Officer O'Hara's vehicle, where Mr. Jackson was initially seated. 1 RP 139; 2 RP 206, 229. In addition, Officer O'Hara testified the driver of the stopped vehicle, who was in Officer Ross's car first, appeared to be a drug addict, whereas Mr. Jackson did not appear to be under the influence. 2 RP 229-30. Given this evidence, a rational juror could have a reasonable doubt that Mr. Jackson constructively possessed the heroin found on the floor of Officer Ross's vehicle. *See* 1 RP 139.

In fact, the jury found Mr. Jackson not guilty of possession of methamphetamine based on the State's allegations that methamphetamine was on the seat where Mr. Jackson was sitting in the car that was stopped, as well as on the floor near his feet. CP 30; 1 RP 142. The jury's acquittal on this charge further demonstrates that a rational juror could have a reasonable doubt Mr. Jackson was guilty of possessing drugs found near him when another individual, who appeared to be a drug addict, had access to the same space. Thus, a finding of harmlessness is precluded because a rational juror could have

entertained reasonable doubt about whether Mr. Jackson committed this act. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 513.