NO. 72944-6-I

FILED October 2, 2015 Court of Appeals

Division I State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

۷.

DENNIS W. JACKSON,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. ISSUES

1. Was the defendant entitled to a unanimity instruction where the evidence showed a continuing course of conduct in a possession of a controlled substances case?

2. If the court erred when it did not give the jury a unanimity instruction was that error harmless?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 27, 2014 at about 2:00 p.m. Everett Police Department Officer Ross was dispatched to a 911 call at the 1500 block of Broadway Avenue. There he stopped a vehicle driven by Mr. Stoutenburg. The defendant, Dennis Jackson, was riding in the front passenger seat. Ms. Walker was riding in the back passenger seat. 12/15/14 RP 134-136, 139, 161.

Officers O'Hara and Cook responded to the scene when Officer Ross called for backup. Officer Ross had arrested Mr. Stoutenburg and placed him in the back of the officer's patrol car. Officer Ross had checked the back of the patrol car before Mr. Stoutenburg was seated there. The backseat held no drugs or weapons at that time. Officer Ross ultimately released Mr. Stoutenburg. After releasing him Officer Ross checked the back of

his patrol car a second time, again finding no drugs or weapons. 12/15/14 RP 136-140.

While Officer Ross contacted Mr. Stoutenburg Officer O'Hara watched the defendant. Officer O'Hara saw the defendant moving his hands in a way that looked like he was trying to conceal something either in the seat, between his legs, or in the door. The officer removed the defendant from the car because he did not know whether the defendant was concealing a weapon. Upon removing the defendant from the car the officer observed a white crystalline substance on the defendant's seat and floorboard that appeared to be crystal methamphetamine. There also was a digital scale in the door pocket. The car was later searched pursuant to a search warrant. In the center console police found a Newport cigarette box that contained suspected methamphetamine. The defendant told officers that he had a box of Newport cigarettes in the car. The substance from the seat, floorboards, and Newport box were later tested positive for methamphetamine. 12/16/14 RP 201-206, 230, 240. 248, 344, 350.

Officer O'Hara asked Officer Ross to transport the defendant to the jail to be booked on the warrant and on probable cause for felony drug possession. Officer O'Hara checked the back of his

patrol car before seating the defendant there. He found no drugs or other contraband. Once they got to the jail and the defendant was removed from the patrol vehicle Officer Ross checked the back passenger compartment again. This time he found a small baggie of brown substance that he suspected was heroin. 9/15/14 RP 143-145, 178.

Officer Ross recommended jail personnel do a strip search during the booking procedure because he suspected the defendant may have more controlled substances on his person. The defendant was placed in a restraint chair after the strip search while jail personnel determined whether he would need medical attention at the hospital. After about two hours the defendant was given a sandwich for dinner. While he was given the sandwich Corrections Officer Stevie noted the defendant was fidgety. When the officer saw the defendant start to scratch under his left leg the officer told the defendant to hold up his hand. When the defendant did that, Officer Stevie saw the defendant holding a small baggie containing a brown substance. The officer struggled with the defendant to get the baggie away from him as the defendant tried to put the baggie in his mouth. Ultimately officers got the baggie away from the defendant. The substance in found in the baggie in the patrol car

and in the defendant's hand were tested positive for heroin. 9/15/14 RP 148; 9/16/14 RP 301-308, 320-322, 351-352.

The defendant was charged with possession of a controlled substance, methamphetamine, count I, and possession of a controlled substance, heroin, count II.¹ 1 CP 69. At trial the defense proposed a <u>Petrich</u> instruction. The State argued that the evidence demonstrated a continuing course of conduct. The court thereafter rejected the proposed instruction. 12/16/14 RP 360; 12/17/14 RP 362-365. The jury acquitted the defendant of count I involving the methamphetamine, and convicted the defendant of count II involving the heroin. 1 CP 29, 30.

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATED A CONTINUING COURSE OF CONDUCT. THE COURT WAS NOT REUQIRED TO GIVE A UNANIMITY INSTRUCTION.

"When the evidence indicates that several distinct criminal acts have been committed, but defendant is charged with only one count of criminal conduct, jury unanimity must be protected" by either an instruction requiring the jury to be unanimous as to which act it found constituted the crime or an election by the prosecutor.

¹ Each count contained an allegation that the offense was committed while the defendant was on community custody. The defendant stipulated to that element of the crime before trial. 12/15/14 RP 12-13.

<u>State v. Petrich</u>, 101 Wn.2d 566, 572, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, <u>State v. Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d 403, 406, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). Neither a unanimity instruction nor an election is necessary when the acts testified to constitute a continuing course of conduct. <u>State v. Handran</u>, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989). Whether the defendant's acts constitute a continuing course of conduct is evaluated in a commonsense manner. <u>Id</u>. In doing so the court considers (1) the time separating the criminal acts, and (2) whether the criminal acts involved the same parties, location, and ultimate purpose. <u>State v. Brown</u>, 159 Wn. App. 1, 14, 248 P.3d 518 (2010), <u>review denied</u>, 171 Wn.2d 1015 (2011).

Evidence that the defendant engaged in a series of actions intended to secure the same objective supports a finding that the actions were a continuing course of conduct rather than a several distinct acts. <u>State v. Fiallo-Lopez</u>, 78 Wn. App 717, 724, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995). In <u>Fiallo-Lopez</u> the evidence showed that undercover officers arranged to purchase some cocaine from the defendant through a go-between, Pedro Lima at a restaurant. While the officers waited Lima obtained a sample from the defendant before completing the transaction. Before the sale was complete Lima's wife stopped the negotiations by warning Lima that there may be

undercover officers in the area. Thereafter the transaction was moved to a different location where the sale was completed. <u>Id</u>. 720-723. This court held no unanimity instruction was required because the evidence demonstrated a continuing course of action, involving the same people with the ultimate purpose of a drug delivery by the defendant. <u>Id</u>. at 725-726.

In a possession with intent to deliver case this court similarly found a defendant's possession of drugs on his person and in his home constituted a single continuing course of conduct, rather than two distinct criminal acts. <u>State v. Love</u>, 80 Wn. App. 357, 908 P.2d 395 (1996). There police had a warrant to search the defendant and his home for drugs. They stopped the defendant a few blocks from his home and found him in possession of a small container holding five rocks of cocaine. A subsequent search of his home yielded an additional 40 rocks of cocaine in a desk. <u>Id</u>. at 359. When considered with other evidence the defendant's possession of cocaine in two different places reflected a single purpose to make money trafficking cocaine and thus both instances constituted a continuous course of conduct. Id. at 362.

Evaluating the evidence presented here shows the defendant's possession of two baggies of heroin was a continuing

course of conduct. Both direct and circumstantial evidence established the defendant possessed the heroin at the same time and place. After placing the defendant in the patrol car the officer drove him to the jail. Although no drugs had been in the car before the defendant was placed there when he was removed the officer found a baggie of heroin where the defendant had been sitting. 12/15/14 RP 144. As the prosecutor argued from this evidence "it's pretty clear where that heroin came from." 12/17/14 RP 375. Since Officer O'Hara had searched the defendant before he was arrested and found no drugs, the circumstantial evidence showed the defendant concealed that baggie of heroin in a place the officer would not find it from a pat – down of his clothing. It was either inside his body or inside an article of clothing that he wore that would not be subject to a pat down.

The other baggie of heroin was seen in the defendant's hand after he had been scratching under his left leg. Since he had been strip searched and placed in restraint chair before that happened a reasonable inference was the defendant had concealed that baggie of heroin inside his body.

Because the defendant had no time to obtain more heroin after he dropped the heroin in the patrol car, the evidence showed

that he possessed both baggies of heroin at the same time up to the point that he was removed from the patrol car. The crime involved the same person, the defendant, and it involved the same criminal objective; to possess heroin. Under these facts the court did not err when it refused the defendant's unanimity instruction.

The defendant claims that the jury should have been given a unanimity instruction, comparing his case to <u>State v. King</u>, 75 Wn. App. 899, 878 P.2d 466 (1994). There the defendant was a passenger in a car stopped for a traffic infraction. An officer saw both the defendant and the driver reach down between the seats. The driver was arrested on a warrant. Police searched the interior of the car after they observed both the driver and the defendant throwing something away as they were removed from the car. They found a pill bottle containing rock cocaine, after which the defendant was arrested as well. During an inventory search the officer found another rock of cocaine in the defendant's fanny pack. <u>Id</u>. 901.

Under these facts this court found the evidence tended to show two distinct instances of possession of cocaine occurring at different times, in different places, in different containers, and by different means. One of the possessions was constructive while

the other possession was actual. <u>Id</u>. at 903. Without an election by the prosecutor or a unanimity instruction from the court it was not possible to say that the jury was unanimous as to which possession constituted the crime. <u>Id</u>.

This case differs from <u>King</u> in that the evidence tends to establish that the defendant actually possessed both bags of heroin at the same time and in the same place. The defendant nonetheless argues that the evidence showed the defendant possessed the two baggies at two different locations and two different times. He claims that the State pointed to a constructive and an actual possession of controlled substance in closing argument. But the defendant misquotes the prosecutor's argument. Read in context the prosecutor was illustrating the difference between actual and constructive possession by comparing the actual possession of the heroin with the constructive possession of the methamphetamine. 12/17/14 RP 374-375.

Even if this court concludes that the trial court should have given a unanimity instruction, error in failing to give that instruction was harmless. The standard for review in a multiple acts case whether a "rational trier of fact could find that each incident was proved beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>State v. Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d

60, 65, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). Where the quality of the evidence as to each act is similar, and the defendant only defends on the basis of general denial without presenting facts to distinguish each act, the jury is presented with an either – or choice, and the error is harmless. <u>Id</u>.

Thus in <u>Camarillo</u> error in failing to give a unanimity instruction in an indecent liberties case was harmless because the child victim had no uncertainty about any of the sexual contact that he testified to and he was not impeached, and there was no conflicting testimony about what happened, and the defendant denied any inappropriate touching had occurred. Id. at 72.

In contrast this court found error in failing to give a unanimity instruction was not harmless in <u>King</u>. There was conflicting evidence as to who constructively possessed the cocaine found in the pill bottle in the car. The defendant denied any awareness of the cocaine in his fanny pack and claimed the officers must have planted it. Under those circumstances it was possible that a rational trier of fact could have entertained a reasonable doubt that the defendant possessed the cocaine in his fanny pack, and the error was therefore not harmless. King, 75 Wn. App. at 904.

Here the defense argued that the heroin was not his, but could have come from some other source. The heroin in the back of the car could have been Mr. Stoutenburg. 12/17/14 RP 379-380, 392. The heroin found on the defendant in the jail could have come from the custody officer. 12/17/14 RP393-394. However, there was no evidence presented to contradict the officer's testimony that there were no drugs in the patrol car before the defendant was seated there. Officer Ross was clear and unequivocal that there was no heroin in the back of his patrol car when the defendant was placed there and there was heroin at the defendant's feet when he was removed from there. Similarly Officer Stevie was clear when he testified that the defendant produced the baggie containing heroin after scratching under his leg. Thus, like Camarillo the jury had to make an either or decision. Either they believed the officers and found the defendant guilty, or they disbelieved the officers, and acquitted him. Under these circumstances, any error in failing to give a unanimity instruction was harmless.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reason the State asks the court to affirm the defendant's conviction for possession of a controlled substance, heroin.